Court of Appeals No. 344801

Supreme Court No. 45085

SEP 2 8 2017

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPECIALTY ASPHALT & CONSTRUCTION LLC, and LISA JACOBSEN, Appellants

v.

COUNTY OF LINCOLN, Respondent

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

STEPHEN R. MATTHEWS, WSBA #12110
PHILLABAUM LEDLIN
MATTHEWS & SHELDON, PLLC
1235 N Post Street, Suite 100
SPOKANE, WASHINGTON 99201
Telephone:(509)838-6055
Facsimile:(509)625-1909
Attorneys for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Specialty Asphalt & Construction, LLC, and Lisa Jacobsen, its majority owner. They were both the plaintiffs and the appellants in an action initiated against defendant/appellee Lincoln County.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOR REVIEW

Petitioners seek review of the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division Three, decision affirming summary judgment dismissing their gender discrimination, negligent misrepresentation and breach of contract claims in an unpublished opinion dated August 29, 2017. Appendix to Petition For Review, pp.1-15.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Is it appropriate to conclude a minority contractor has not been harmed and dismiss a claim for sex discrimination where a public entity discouraged a female contractor from bidding a project, made a sexist remark to the contractor, subjected the contractor to unusual scrutiny, altered the terms of the contract award, and delayed the contractor's performance? And does such a ruling impair Washington's law against discrimination?
- (2) During a summary judgment motion does evidence that a County discouraged a female contractor from bidding, altered contract terms, interfered with contract performance, and engaged in other adverse conduct, only create an inference of sex discrimination if there is evidence a male contractor was treated differently in exactly the same circumstance?
- (3) Are Specialty's pecuniary losses which were suffered as a consequence of its reliance on the County's misrepresentation appropriate damages for a negligent misrepresentation claim?

(4) Should the County be permitted to avoid liability for post award breaches of its contractual duties simply because those duties arose out of a public works project?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Lisa Jacobsen ("Jacobsen") has been the majority owner of Plaintiff Specialty Asphalt & Construction, LLC ("Specialty") since the company was incorporated in 2012. *CP 278*, ¶ 2. Specialty is a licensed contractor that performs asphalt paving and maintenance work. For approximately 20 years, Jacobsen has worked both in the field operating equipment and handling all aspects of paving jobs, including bidding projects. *CP 278-79*, ¶¶ 3-4. In her experience, most public work projects did not require a bond. *CP 279*, ¶ 4. A bond adds a significant cost and requires more work on a project. *CP 284-85*, ¶ 18.

In July 2013, Jacobsen reviewed and responded to a call for bids ("the Bid Proposal") from Defendant Lincoln County ("the County") requesting extensive parking lot repair and maintenance at the courthouse in Davenport ("the Project"). The Bid Proposal stated in two separate places that no proposal bond or performance bond was required. *CP 279*, ¶ 6, *293*, *297*. The County's Operations and Permit Coordinator, Phil Nollmeyer ("Nollmeyer"), drafted the Bid Proposal which the Public Works Director and

the County Engineer then reviewed. Deposition of Phil Nollmeyer, CP 114.

The Bid Proposal announced an opportunity to view the Project and scope of work on July 16, 2013. CP 291. Jacobsen was the only contractor at the scheduled walkthrough. CP 319. Three County Commissioners and Nollmeyer participated in the walkthrough. None of the County's representatives mentioned a bond requirement. CP 280, \P 7.

At the beginning of the walkthrough, in front of the Commissioners, Nollmeyer said the shoes with heels Jacobsen was wearing were not appropriate attire for a walkthrough. The Commissioners appeared to be much more engaged with Jacobsen than Nollmeyer in the discussion of the Project. *CP 280*, ¶ 9. After the walk through, the County issued Addendum No. 1 to the Bid Proposal on July 16, 2013. Once again, Addendum No. 1 did not require any bond.

A few days after the scheduled walkthrough, a male representative of Arrow Concrete & Asphalt Specialties ("Arrow") showed up at the County. *CP 303, 319-20.* Nollmeyer acknowledged the intent of the scheduled walkthrough is to provide all potential bidders with access to the same information. *CP 321.* Nevertheless, Nollmeyer gave the Arrow representative a private unscheduled walkthrough. *CP 319-22.* David Lawless owns Arrow

and Nollmeyer knows him. *CP 228*, ¶ *25*, 324-25.

Prior to the due date for bids, Nollmeyer called Jacobsen and attempted to talk her out of bidding and said the project was messy and more trouble than it is worth. His comments and attitude made it very clear to Jacobsen that he did not believe her company, owned and operated by a woman, could do the job. CP 281, ¶ 11.

On July 27, 2013, Jacobsen submitted a bid on behalf of Specialty. *CP 281*, ¶ *12*. The County Commissioners opened the bids on August 5, 2013, and awarded the project to the low bidder Specialty, but no one called Jacobsen. Nollmeyer or someone in Public Works was reluctant to notify Jacobsen. *CP 281-2*, ¶ *13*.

Nollmeyer testified that before an award is made he checks the Department of Labor and Industries ("L&I") website to see if a contractor is in good standing and eligible to bid, and he did so in this case. *CP 327-30, 333.* However, L&I Contractor Tracking Information shows Lincoln County Public Works took the unusual step of initiating Contractor Tracking on August 7, 2013, the day after the Project was awarded to Specialty. *CP 287-88,* ¶ *24, 302-3, 309.* Contractor Tracking allows an entity to track a contractor's status with L&I on an ongoing basis.

Nollmeyer could not explain why the County would initiate tracking on Specialty the day after the award was made. *CP 331-33*. He also made it clear the County has never tracked other contractors. *CP 331-33*.

After Jacobsen did not hear anything about her bid, she called the County and was told Nollmeyer had been assigned to notify her the project was awarded to Specialty. *CP 281-2*, ¶ 13. Soon after the call, Jacobsen received a letter from County Auditor Johnston ("Auditor Johnston"), dated August 6, 2013, confirming Specialty's bid was lower than the only competing bid from Arrow. The letter and the enclosed award did not mention a bond, but it did ask Specialty to contact the County about a start date for the Project. *CP 282*, ¶ 14, 302-03.

Relying on the Award, Jacobsen began to mobilize resources and materials for the Project and told her administrative assistant to stop accepting new jobs for the year because the work season usually ends with freezing temperatures in October. *CP 282-83*, ¶ 15.

On August 12th the County sent a letter and a bond to Specialty. Jacobsen concluded the bond was sent in error and wrote on the document: "No proposal bond or performance bond required as per page #2." She returned it unsigned with the signed Contract. *CP 283*,¶ *16, 305-07*.

Auditor Johnston called Jacobsen and said it had been brought to the County's attention that we have to have a bond. Jacobsen disagreed, citing to the County's Bid Proposal. The Auditor would not tell Jacobsen who had brought it to her attention that the County now wanted a bond. *CP 284*, ¶ 17, 285, ¶ 20. Auditor Johnston testified that she called Jacobsen on August 19, 2013, at the direction of the Commissioners and told Jacobsen the County would not allow Specialty to do the Project. *CP 340*, 345-46. Instead, the Commissioners planned to rebid the Project. *Id*.

On or about August 20, 2013, the County issued a new call for bids, with the requirement of a bond, for the Project. *CP 35*, ¶ 6. Specialty responded with a demand letter requesting that the County maintain its bid award. *CP 39*. The County then "withdrew the re-bidding process." *CP 35*, ¶ 6. Subsequent to withdrawing their bid process, the County offered to pay for the bond and have Specialty proceed with the Project. CP 35, ¶ 8. In light of the warning in the Bid Proposal and after consulting with its insurance agent, Specialty did not accept that offer for fear it would constitute collusion or bid rigging and would subject the company to penalties by federal and state authorities. *CP 285-86*, ¶¶ 19, 21, *CP 296*.

In the spring of 2014, Specialty filed suit seeking injunctive and

declaratory relief because the County continued to insist the contract without a bond was illegal (*CP 12*) and it would not allow Specialty to perform the work. *CP 20*. The County filed a motion for summary judgment dismissing all of the claims brought by both Plaintiffs. At the hearing, the court struck as hearsay statements of third parties other than Nollmeyer. *CP 418-19*. The court granted partial summary judgment and dismissed the discrimination and the negligent misrepresentation claims. *CP 417-19*.

The trial court dismissed the discrimination claim because Jacobsen did not have corroborating evidence to support her testimony regarding adverse treatment by the County and found no evidence that Specialty was adversely affected as a result of the interaction with the County. *CP 525*, 589. The court did conclude that the contract was valid and the County had delayed Speciality's performance. *CP 412, 413, 527*.

In response to a motion for specific performance by the County, the trial court entered an order on May 6, 2016, compelling Specialty to perform the contract without a bond. CP 599. Specialty declined to perform the contract because conditions at the Project had changed over the three years since Specialty had received the award. CP 412, $\P\P$ 8-11, CP 595-96. The court denied Specialty's motion to amend the complaint to seek damages on

the contract claim. *CP* 593. Following the dismissal of the contract claim, Specialty filed an appeal.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Grounds that qualify a case for review.

The Supreme Court will accept a case for review only if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, involves a significant question of law under the state or federal constitution, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, or the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with another published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b). This case satisfies all four grounds for review.

B. Standard of review for summary judgment decisions.

Appellate courts review a summary judgment order de novo. Highline School District No. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wash.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976). Summary judgment is only appropriate if "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). When considering a summary judgment motion, and on appellate review, the court must construe all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving

party. Lybbert v. Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000).

C. Is it appropriate to conclude a minority contractor has not been harmed and dismiss a claim for sex discrimination where a public entity discouraged a female contractor from bidding a project, made a sexist remark to the contractor, subjected the contractor to unusual scrutiny, altered the terms of the contract award, and delayed the contractor's performance? And does such a ruling impair Washington's law against discrimination?

Washington has established a clear mandate to eliminate all forms of discrimination by enacting RCW 49.60. *Brown v. Scott Paper Worldwide Co.*, 143 Wn.2d 349, 359–60, 20 P.3d 921 (2001). The overarching purpose of the law is "to deter and to eradicate discrimination in Washington." RCW 49.60.010. Matters involving discrimination, especially by a governmental entity like the one in this case, are issues of substantial public interest. *See Josephinium Associates v. Kahli*, 111 Wn. App. 617, 622, 45 P.3d 627 (2002); *Washington State Commc'n Access Project v. Regal Cinemas, Inc.*, 173 Wn. App. 174, 206, 293 P.3d 413 (2013).

The Court of Appeals has rendered the foregoing public policy ineffective. By ruling that although Jacobsen and Specialty were not "harmed" when Nollmeyer discouraged Jacobsen from bidding, made a sexist remark about Jacobsen's clothing, singled out the female owned business for post award tracking on the L&I website, and engaged in other

discriminatory acts, the court diminished Washington's commitment to eliminate discrimination.

The public policy calls for the eradication of all discrimination and hence no discrimination should be tolerated. Sexist behavior in a job interview or in a bidding process is not tolerable or lawful, even if the victim endures it and ultimately gets the job or contract.

The fact Specialty was awarded the contract is not evidence agents of the County did not discriminate and Specialty and Jacobsen were not harmed. The award was made because Specialty was the low bidder, but Specialty's status as the low bidder did it no good. When Specialty got the award, someone suddenly advised Auditor Johnston the County "needed" a bond, the County demanded a bond and delayed Specialty's performance. The cumulative effect of the County's conduct was not trivial or a mere annoyance.

Specialty was denied the right to perform and have the benefit of the agreed upon terms. Obtaining a bond would have been expensive and it would have required work that was not contemplated in the bidding process.

Significantly, the County's summary judgment motion did not argue Plaintiffs were not damaged, and the trial court and appellate court raised the issue of damages *sua sponte*. *CP 218-30*. Jacobsen and Specialty had no opportunity create a specific record on the issue of damages. Nevertheless the record contains ample evidence of damage. *CP 280*, ¶8, 281, ¶11, 282-6.

Even if Jacobsen and Specialty did not prove actual damages, the Court of Appeals should not have affirmed the dismissal. In discrimination cases, nominal damages are presumed even if no damages are proven. *Minger v. Reinhard Distributing Co., Inc.*, 87 Wn. App. 941, 946-47, 943 P.2d 400 (1997); *Lewis v. Doll*, 53 Wn. App. 203, 212, 765 P.2d 1341 (1989) (citing *Browning v. Slenderella Systems*, 54 Wash.2d 440, 450-51, 341 P.2d 859 (1959); *Miles v. F.E.R.M. Enterprises*, *Inc.*, 29 Wn. App. 61, 68, 627 P.2d 564 (1981)). In the *F.E.R.M. Enterprises* decision, the court explained that "[a] plaintiff need not allege nominal damages, and they are proved merely by showing a deprivation of a civil right." *Id.* (citations omitted).

The possibility of nominal damages should have prevented summary judgment. In a recent decision, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit held that a plaintiff can recover nominal damages in equity if an employer unlawfully interferes with the exercise of rights under the Americans with Disabilities Act and, therefore, the court reversed the grant

of summary judgment on mootness grounds even though the plaintiff no longer qualified for injunctive or declaratory relief. *Bayer v. Neiman Marcus Group, Inc.*, 861 F.3d 853, 859, 868-73 (9th Cir. 2017). *See Bernhardt v. County of Los Angeles*, 279 F.3d 862, 872 (9th Cir. 2002); *Poland v. Chertoff*, 559 F. Supp. 2d 1127, 1129-31 (D. Or. 2008).

D. During a summary judgment motion does evidence that a County discouraged a female contractor from bidding, altered contract terms, interfered with contract performance and engaged in other adverse conduct only create an inference of sex discrimination if there is evidence a male contractor was treated differently in exactly the same circumstances?

The Court of Appeals used a rigid, mechanized and ritualistic approach based on a test used in *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S.Ct. 1817 (1973), and in *Marquis v. Spokane*, 130 Wash.2d 97, 109, 922 P.2d 43 (1996) to determine if there was evidence of discrimination. For instance, the appellate court found the evidence of discrimination lacking because there was no evidence Arrow and Specialty were treated differently while they were in the same situation and the court found Specialty won the bid. Appendix, p. 8. In *Grimwood v. University of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 363, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) the Supreme Court rejected this kind of analysis.

The Court of Appeals speculated Nollmeyer might have criticized the

shoes worn by Arrow's employee, might have granted Specialty a private walkthrough and might have also discouraged Arrow from bidding. This speculative and rigid comparison, coupled with the failure to draw inferences from the evidence in favor on the non-moving party, reduce Washington's disdain for discrimination to mere rhetoric.

The ultimate burden in cases brought under RCW 49.60 is to present evidence sufficient for a trier of fact to reasonably conclude unlawful discriminatory animus was more likely than not a substantial factor motivating the County's adverse actions. *Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I*, 144 Wn.2d 172, 186–87, 23 P.3d 440 (2001), as amended on denial of reconsideration (July 17, 2001).

The fact Nollmeyer discouraged Jacobsen from bidding by itself creates an inference he did not want a woman to get the Project. The fact Nollmeyer could not explain why he deviated from County policy and gave Arrow a private walkthrough creates an inference that he or someone had a preference for male bidders. Nollmeyer's comment about Jacobsen's heeled shoes suggests he did not like a woman participating in the walkthrough. These inferences do not depend on evidence that Arrow was treated differently, although such an inference can easily be drawn. For example if

Nollmeyer wanted to discourage Arrow from bidding, all he had to do was refuse to give Arrow a private walkthrough. Instead Arrow got special treatment.

The Court of Appeals's mechanical analysis went so far as to explain away the County's post award monitoring by claiming Specialty was unique because a winning bidder and losing bidder are not in the same class. Appendix, p. 8. This strained attempt at comparison ignores the evidence that past successful bidders were never tracked by the County and Nollmeyer had no explanation for tracking Specialty. *CP 331-33*. The unprecedented tracking gives rise to an inference of discrimination. Most surprising is the portion of the ruling that Specialty winning the bid was "the reason [for] the repeated checking on Specialty's licensing." Appendix p.8. This statement has no evidentiary support whatsoever. The County offered no explanation for tracking Specialty's licensing. *CP 331-33*. In this instance, the court below has made a factual finding without any evidence.

The Court of Appeals improperly determined questions of fact and construed evidence in the light most favorable to the County. Findings of fact on summary judgment are not proper. *Hemenway v. Miller*, 116 Wn.2d 725, 731, 807 P.2d 863 (1991). The function of a summary judgment

proceeding is to determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists; it is not to resolve issues of fact or to arrive at conclusions based thereon. *Duckworth v. City of Bonney Lake*, 91 Wn.2d 19, 21, 586 P.2d 860 (1978).

The Court of Appeals held that "[the bid notice] mistakenly stated in two places that no proposal bond or performance bond was required." Appendix, p.2. Plaintiffs contend three County officials did not "mistakenly" issue the Bid Proposal and the Addendum without a bond requirement, and the subsequent demand for a bond was discriminatory. A jury should decide if the demand for a bond was a mistake. Even if it was a mistake, the question for the jury would be whether or not it was discriminatory for the County to ultimately insist on a bond rather than to proceed without one.

The appellate court also ignored the summary judgment standard when it stated, "the comment on Ms. Jacobsen's heels being inappropriate for a job site and the telephone call discouraging her from bidding do not establish disparate treatment due to gender." Appendix, p.8. The Court of Appeals engaged in a series of "what ifs" when it stated: "There is no information concerning whether Arrow's representatives received similar or different treatment" and "Nollmeyer also may have discouraged Arrow from

bidding and commented on the footwear worn by its representatives." Appendix, p.8. The County had the opportunity to, but did not, offer such evidence. Theorizing that *maybe* Arrow was treated the same as Specialty, and speculating that *maybe* Nollmeyer discouraged Arrow, is improper. The appellate court failed to draw all inferences in favor of the non-moving party contrary to established law and numerous published appellate decisions.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals incorrectly made the determination that Specialty "won" the bid. Appendix p.8. Specialty was the low bidder, but it did not win anything because it was not allowed to complete the Project. The County awarded the Project to low bidder Specialty, but then it demanded a bond, repudiated the contract, and delayed Specialty's performance.

In any other setting, if one party demanded additional work or consideration not contemplated by the contract, repudiated and interfered with performance, no one would say the non-breaching party "won" the contract. The County's conduct has legal consequences and it gives rise to an inference of discrimination.

The courts below opined that because the County claimed it was willing to pay the cost of a bond, that meant it did not discriminate against

Specialty. This finding ignores the fact that the County initially attempted to rebid the Project and Specialty was not required to accept the modification of the agreement. The law does not require a minority to do more than is required of others. The County did not, and does not, contend it uniformly required bonds from all contractors. On the contrary, the undisputed evidence is the County was informed it needed a bond after the award was made. If a bond was a typical requirement, no one would have needed to inform the County a bond was required.

The Court of Appeals decision stands for the proposition that Specialty and Jacobsen must endure and tolerate discrimination during the bidding process because they ultimately were the low bidder. Appendix p.8. This does not eradicate discrimination in Washington, it protects it.

E. Are Specialty's pecuniary losses which were suffered as a consequence of its reliance on the County's misrepresentation appropriate damages for a negligent misrepresentation claim?

The Court of Appeals also improperly concluded Specialty presented no evidence of damage resulting directly from the County's misrepresentation. Once again this issue was not raised in the trial court, but Specialty did present evidence of damage. Specialty lost money because the County told Specialty it had the contract and it asked when Specialty could

start. As a result of it being late in the paving season, Specialty stopped taking other jobs and began preparing to perform the contract and it lost money. These pecuniary losses were suffered as a consequence of Specialty's reliance on the County's misrepresentation and are allowable under Washington law. *Janda v. Brier Realty*, 97 Wn. App. 45, 50, 984 P.2d 412, 415 (1999).

F. Should the County be permitted to avoid liability for its post award misconduct and breach of its contractual duty simply because those duties arose out of a public works project?

Specialty's petition for review of the dismissal of it breach of contract claim is appropriate for two reasons. First, the Court of Appeals improperly relied on *Skyline Contractors, Inc. v. Spokane Housing Authority*, 172 Wn. App. 193, 195 (2012). The case is distinguishable. In *Skyline* injunctive relief was an adequate remedy but Skyline failed to take advantage of that relief. In this case, the County's refusal to allow Specialty to do the job pushed the work into the next paving season making an injunction an inadequate remedy. *CP 412-13*. The County's discriminatory conduct also made impossible to perform the contract.

The *Skyline* case is also distinguishable because Specialty is not a disappointed bidder. It was entitled to and got the contract. This was not a

bidding problem.

Second, the policy in *Skyline* does not apply to these facts. The *Skyline* court refused to consider damages pursuant to the policy that the public should not pay twice for the same work, once for the award of an excessive contract price and once for lost profits of the lowest bidder. The County will not paying for an excessive award to someone who is not the low bidder. No other contractor has an award and the County has not paid any other contractor to do the work. There is no reason the County should not be liable for its interference with Specialty's performance.

Once sovereign immunity has been waived, any classifications limiting the right to recover damage must be constitutional and conform to the equal protection guarantees of the state and federal constitutions.

Jenkins v. State, 85 Wn.2d 883, 890, 540 P.2d 1363, 1368 (1975). Here, there is no rational reason to deny Specialty the right to recover money damages for the County's misconduct. This is not a dispute between two bidders and there is no doubt the award was made to the right contractor. The damage here flows from post award misconduct preventing performance of a legitimate agreement. There is no rational basis to deny damages to Specialty.

Even if the policy used in *Skyline* is at issue, it is not the product of legislative action and it should be narrowly applied. The public does not

have an interest in condoning the County's post award misconduct here.

VI. CONCLUSION

This petition for review should be granted because discrimination is an issue of substantial public interest. The courts below committed reversible error when they made factual determinations on summary judgment and other legal errors that conflict with published appellate decisions. The judgment must be reversed and the case remanded for trial.