FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/27/2017 2:38 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 344801-III

Supreme Court No. <u>95085-7</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SPECIALTY ASPHALT & CONSTRUCTION, LLC, a Washington Company, and LISA JACOBSEN, an individual,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

LINCOLN COUNTY, a Washington State County,

Defendant/Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

EVANS, CRAVEN & LACKIE
Michael E. McFarland, Jr., WSBA #23000
Jeremy M. Zener, WSBA #41957

Counsel for Respondent
818 West Riverside Avenue, Suite 250
Spokane, WA 99201-0910
Telephone: (509)455-5200

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF THE SUPREME COURT.

In this case, the Court of Appeals relied upon the Supreme Court's decision in *Marquis v. City of Spokane*, 130 Wn. 2d 97, 922 P.2d 43 (1996), when affirming the trial court's dismissal of Specialty's gender discrimination claim. *Opinion*, at 6-7, attached as Appendix A to Specialty's Petition.

In *Marquis*, this Court held that in an action for discrimination in the making and performance of an employment contract, the plaintiff must show (1) membership in a protected class, (2) plaintiff was similarly situated to members of the opposite sex, (3) because of plaintiff's sex she was treated differently than members of the opposite sex, *i.e.* she was offered a contract only on terms that made the performance of the job more onerous or less lucrative than contracts given to members of the opposite

sex, or, once offered the contract, was treated in a manner that made the performance of the work more difficult than that of members of the opposite sex who were similarly situated. *Id.* at 113-114; *see also Ellingson v. Spokane Mortg. Co.*, 19 Wn. app. 48, 54, 573 P.2d 389 (1978). The **plaintiff** has the burden of establishing specific and material facts to support each element of his or her prima facie case. *Ellingson*, 19 Wn. App. at 54 (emphasis added).

For purposes of its decision the Court of Appeals held that even assuming the first two prongs of the *Marquis* test, Specialty had failed on multiple fronts to produce sufficient facts to thwart the County's motion for summary judgment. *Opinion*, at 7. First, Specialty failed to produce evidence that Ms. Jacobsen was treated differently than her male counterpart – in this case, Arrow Construction. *Id.* Rather, Specialty focused on its *perceived* differences in treatment without providing the trial court with any *actual* evidence of how Arrow was treated differently. Indeed, Specialty did not depose any employee of Arrow Construction in this case, nor did Specialty present any evidence whatsoever from Arrow as to how Arrow was treated.

Similarly, Specialty asserted that Arrow benefited from a "private" walk through, yet failed to produce any evidence that Specialty had attempted to obtain a similar "private" walk through and that request was

denied. Quite to the contrary, it was undisputed in this case that after Ms. Jacobsen attended the advertised walk through and provided recommendations to the County Commissioners and Phil Nollmeyer. CP 216. The County then incorporated those recommended changes into the project and even issued an addendum to the project formalizing the recommendations received from Ms. Jacobsen as project requirements. CP 214-15.

The Court of Appeals returned to the pertinent issue: "There is no information concerning whether Arrow's representatives received similar or different treatment. For all this record shows, Mr. Nollmeyer also may have discouraged Arrow from bidding and commented on the footwear worn by its representative." *Opinion*, at 8. The burden is on the **plaintiff** to set forth sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie discrimination case. *Ellingson*, 19 Wn. App. at 54. However, Specialty argues in its Petition: "The County had the opportunity to, but did not, offer such evidence [that Arrow had received similar treatment]." *Petition*, at 16. The County did not and does not have the burden of disproving a prima facie case. Rather, as the *Ellingson* court noted, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing a prima facie case through admissible evidence. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that Specialty failed to satisfy the prima facie elements of the discrimination claim as those elements are set forth in *Marquis*.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with Washington Supreme Court jurisprudence. Rather, the Court of Appeals applied the appropriate standard from the preeminent Supreme Court case setting forth the applicable law in these types of discrimination claims, and then appropriately determined that Specialty had failed to meet its burden on summary judgment. Review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH A PUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS.

Similarly, Specialty has failed to show that the decision in this case conflicts with any published decision of any panel of the Court of Appeals. The only substantive argument Specialty raises which implicate Washington Court of Appeals decisions is with regard to nominal damages. *Petition*, at 11. As noted, *supra*, the Court need not consider the nominal damages argument, because it has not been raised prior to this Petition. *Sourakli v. Kyriakos, Inc.*, 144 Wn. App. 501, 509, 182 P.3d 985 (2008), *review denied*, 165 Wn. 2d 1017, 199 P.3d 411 (2009); RAP 2.5(a).

However, even if this Court will consider the issue, the decisions cited by Specialty do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision below. Specialty asserts: "In discrimination cases, nominal damages are presumed even if no damages are proven." *Petition*, at 11. However, this line of reasoning overlooks a substantial and fatal flaw to this argument: Specialty

failed to prove discrimination. Indeed, in the string of citations that Specialty sets forth in the Petition, not a single case cited stands for the proposition that when a discrimination claim is dismissed on summary judgment, a plaintiff is still entitled to damages merely for having brought the claim in court.

In brief, the following cases are the cases cited by Specialty in its Petition. A cursory examination of these cases demonstrates the fallacy in Specialty's reasoning.

In *Minger v. Reinhard Distributing Co., Inc.*, 87 Wn. App. 941, 943 P.2d 400 (1997), a **jury** found that the employees bringing suit *were* sexually harassed, but neglected to award damages.

In *Lewis v. Doll*, 53 Wn. App. 203, 765 P.2d 1341 (1989), the Court of Appeals granted a patron's motion for a directed verdict finding discrimination occurred as a matter of law, and remanded to the trial court for a determination of damages.

Browning v. Slenderella Sys., 54 Wn. 2d 440, 341 P.2d 859 (1959) has been disapproved. Nord v. Shoreline Sav. Ass'n, 116 Wn. 2d 477, 484, 805 P.2d 800 (1991).

In *Miles v. F.E.R.M. Enters., Inc.*, 29 Wn. App. 61, 627 P.2d 564 (1981), a <u>jury</u> found that prospective purchasers had been discriminated against, but awarded \$0 in damages.

These cases are clearly factually and legally distinguishable from the case at bar. As such, Specialty has failed to set forth any published decisions of any division of the Court of Appeals which conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in this case.

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE CONSTITUTION.

The only claim in this case that even potentially has constitutional implications is the gender discrimination claim. As the Court of Appeals properly sets forth in the bulk of its opinion, Specialty had a burden to set forth a prima facie case and failed to do so. The Court of Appeals then provided several examples of where Specialty's evidence fell short.

There is already a clear prohibition in Washington against gender discrimination. See RCW 49.60.030. The facts and application of law to facts in this case do not redefine, modify nor clarify that freedom from discrimination. Specialty may not like the current status of the law with regard to the exclusive remedies available to it in this case, but that issue and responsibility lies with the legislative branch of our government, not the judiciary.

As has been shown throughout this case, Specialty has failed to establish a colorable claim of gender discrimination. To assert then that if

this Court accepts review of the claim that the claim will have constitutional implications is wrought with fallacy.

D. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION DOES NOT INVOLVE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

The Washington Supreme Court has interpreted "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4) to mean issues with "sweeping implications." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 578, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

The facts of this case are only germane to the parties involved and do not involve even a public interest, much less a substantial one. Rather, this case involves a typographical error on a construction bid form. The record indicates that only two companies submitted a bid based upon that error. The Court of Appeals did not even see fit to publish the opinion due to the limited or even nil stare decisis import of the decision.

Further, it is telling in this case that after the proverbial dust settled after the County's Motion for Summary Judgment, Specialty knowingly and voluntarily waived the injunctive relief received in this case which was to complete the project. CP 595-96.

The issues involved in this case equate to essentially a private dispute between the parties. The alleged discrimination is neither novel nor does it involve a systemic pattern of discriminatory conduct. There are no "sweeping implications" to be found here and the tenuous nature of

Specialty's allegations have been pointed out time again by the Courts which have reviewed this case.

V. ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Specialty has changed its position throughout this pendency of this case, and attempts to do so again in the Petition. Lincoln County has been forced to respond every step of the way despite the nebulous nature of the allegations. Lincoln County respectfully requests the Court award its reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1 and/or 18.9.

Washington law is clear that the remedies available to an aggrieved bidder on a public works contract is an injunction, and an injunction only.

Further, even when the trial court indicated that based upon the motion practice and ensuing stipulation to the injunction by Lincoln County, Specialty then decided it did not want to pursue the work. Specialty has made numerous attempts in this case to circumvent this well-settled Washington law. First, Specialty attempted a gender discrimination claim to try and obtain money damages. When that was unsuccessful, Specialty attempted to amend its Complaint for a second time to add "money damages" despite already being told by the trial court that such relief was unavailable.

After the trial court advised the parties that Specialty's breach of contract claim could proceed, Lincoln County offered to allow Specialty to

complete the project. Only *then* did Specialty indicate that it no longer wished to perform the project, thereby admitting that its own lawsuit was moot.

This appeal is frivolous. The Petition is also frivolous in that it does not even attempt to demonstrate to the Court why review by the Supreme Court is appropriate here. The trial court properly dismissed Specialty's claims in this case. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the dismissal. Specialty remains unsatisfied with Washington law and the trial court's rulings, but has regrettably chosen to waste further time and resources pursuing an avenue of relief that is not available to it.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Lincoln County respectfully requests this Court deny the Petition for Discretionary Review and award Lincoln County its reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred in preparing this Answer.